Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette (3010-Dual) Manual

2nd edition

File:Dual-PAMCuvette_2c.doc

©Heinz Walz GmbH, 2010

Heinz Walz GmbH • Eichenring 6 • 91090 Effeltrich • Germany Phone +49-(0)9133/7765-0 • Telefax ++49-(0)9133/5395 E-mail info@walz.com • Internet www.walz.com

Contents

1	Sa	Ifety Instructions1
	1.1	General Safety Instructions 1
	1.2	Special Safety Instructions1
2	In	troduction2
3	0	peration4
	3.1	Setting up the system4
	3.1	.1 Mounting the optical units
	3.1	.2 Opening and Closing of the cuvette
	3.1	.3 Connections
	3.2	Starting the Software
	3.2	2.1 Regional and Language Options
	3.2	2.2 Establishing the USB-connection to both systems on one computer
	3.3	First steps with the Dual-PAM9
	3.3	.1 Short overview on Settings
	3.3	2.2 Chlorophyll fluorescence and P700 measurements in the dark adapted state
	3.4	Starting the Gas Exchange
	3.4	.1 Checks before Gas Exchange Measurement
	3.4	.2 Setting-Up and Starting the Gas Exchange Measurement $\dots 20$
	3.5	Trigger connection between Dual-PAM-100 and GFS-3000 . 22
	3.6	Example: Dark-light Induction Curves with concurrent Dual- PAM and GFS-3000 measurements
	3.6	5.1 Before starting the automatic Induction Curve
	3.6	5.2 Script file for Induction Curve
	3.6	5.3 Example of Induction Curve recording
	3.6	6.4 Reading Data into Excel 2003 and higher

CONTENTS

4	Ca	lculations	31
	4.1	Introduction	31
	4.2	Calculation of the Differential CO_2 Mole Fraction in Measure Mode MP – dCO2MP and dCO2ZP	; 32
	4.3	$\label{eq:calculation} Calculation of the Differential H_2O Mole Fraction in Measure Mode $MP-dH2OMP$ and $dH2OZP$}$	e 33
	4.4	Calculation of Transpiration Rate – E,	33
	4.5	Calculation of Assimilation Rate - A	34
	4.6	Calculation of Water Vapor Conductance - GH2O and wa	35
	4.7	Calculation of average water around the leaf – wa and Vapor Pressure-Deficit - VPD	:- 36
	4.8	Relative Humidity (rh %)	37
	4.9	Calculation of CO ₂ Mole Fraction in the Cuvette - ca	37
	4.10	Calculation of Intercellular CO2 Mole Fraction	38
	4.11	Recalculation of Data	39
	4.12	Calculated Values	40
	4.13	Status String	40
5	Ma	aintenance	41
	5.1	Demounting a cuvette half and exchanging gaskets	41
	5.2	Exchanging the Thermocouple	42
	5.3	Adjusting the Offset for leaf temperature probe	43
	5.4	PAR Sensor MQS-B/GFS	43
6	Te	chnical Data	44
7	Wa	arranty Conditions	45

1 Safety Instructions

1.1 General Safety Instructions

- 1. Read the safety instructions and the operating instructions first.
- 2. Pay attention to all the safety warnings.
- 3. Keep the device away from water or high moisture areas.
- 4. Keep the device away from dust, sand and dirt.
- 5. Always ensure there is sufficient ventilation.
- 6. Do not put the device anywhere near sources of heat.
- 7. Connect the device only to the power source indicated in the operating instructions or on the device.
- 8. Clean the device only according to the manufacturer's recommendations.
- 9. Ensure that no liquids or other foreign bodies can find their way inside the device.
- 10. The device should only be repaired by qualified personnel.

1.2 Special Safety Instructions

- 1. The GFS-3000, the Dual-PAM-100, and the Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette are highly sensitive research instruments, which should be used only for research purposes, as specified in this manual. Please follow the instructions of this manual in order to avoid potential harm to the user and damage to the instrument.
- 2. The Dual-PAM-100 employs high intensity light sources, which may cause damage to the eye. Avoid looking directly into these light sources during continuous illumination, saturation pulses or single turnover pulses.

2 Introduction

The Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette is designed to enable chlorophyll fluorescence and P700 measurements on leaf samples concurrently with gas exchange measurements in a climate controlled environment. Fig. 1 shows the complete set-up of the Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette with the Dual-PAM-100 and the GFS-3000 connected. The GFS-3000 controls the gas exchange measurements including CO₂ and H₂O concentration. The temperature is controlled *via* the Electronics Box, which is connected to the GFS-3000. The Dual-PAM-100 controls the light and optical measurements, *via* the Dual-DB and the Dual-E Modules, which are connected to either side of the Dual-PAM Cuvette. A trigger line leads from the Dual-PAM to the Electronics Box.



Fig. 1 Overview: Dual-PAM Cuvette (1) with Electronics Box (2), Dual-PAM (3) and GFS-3000 Central Unit (4).



Fig. 2 shows the Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette without any parts belonging to the Dual-PAM-100 or the GFS-3000.

Fig. 2 Dual-PAM Cuvette

- 1. Upper and lower cuvette frame
- 2. 22 mm Ø black metal tube enclosing a Perspex rod that serves as light guide
- 3. External heat exchanger attached to Peltier elements with fan and grid
- 4. Electronics Box controlling the Dual-PAM Cuvette
- 5. Ring fitting with knurled screw holding cuvette half.
- 6. Cable connecting to Trigger In
- 7. Support frame with countersunk socket screws at both ends
- 8. Pole of Mounting Stand ST-101

3 Operation

- 3.1 Setting up the system
- 3.1.1 Mounting the optical units



Fig. 3 Fastening Dual-DB

Mount the Dual-DB unit to the 22 mm \emptyset black metal tube enclosing the Perspex rod of the upper frame of the Dual-PAM Cuvette. The original Perspex rod together with its metal tube needs to be removed from the Dual-DB unit beforehand.

Fasten the Dual-DB unit with the provided allen wrench (hex-key) as shown in Fig. 3.

Mount the Dual-E at the lower side in the same way. Within the optical

units, there is a small central round Perspex rod protruding beyond the other optical parts, it will touch the squared Perspex rod of the Dual-PAM cuvette. Do not use to much force pushing this central rod back.



3.1.2 Opening and Closing of the cuvette

Fig. 4 Opening and closing of the cuvette

With the knurled screw of the ring-fittings, the height positions of the frames can be adjusted. Put the lower frame into its lowest possible position. Open and close the cuvette using the knurled screw of the upper ring fitting. If the pressure on the gaskets is too low even with the upper module being in its lowest position, slightly increase the height of the lower frame.

3.1.3 Connections

Connect the pneumatic connectors to the Central Unit of the GFS-3000. Connect one of them to the connector CUVETTE/FROM and the other to the connector CUVETTE/TO. Connect the cable of the Electronics Box to the connector CUVETTE of the GFS-3000. Connect the trigger cable from the Dual-PAM-100 (OUT) to the Electronics Box. Connect the Dual-DB and Dual-E modules to the Dual PAM Control Unit. Connect power supplies and switch the instrument on.

3.2 Starting the Software

The concurrent operation of the Dual-PAM and GFS-3000 has been tested on a computer with Windows-XP operating system.

3.2.1 Regional and Language Options

ional and La	nguage Op	tions		?				
egional Options	Language	es Advanced						
Standards and	formats							
This option affects how some programs format numbers, currencies, dates, and time.								
Select an iter your own form	n to match it: nats:	s preferences, or	click Customize to	o choose				
German (Lie	chtenstein)		- Cus	stornize				
Samples			~					
Number:	123'456'78	7						
Currency:	CHF 123'4	56'789.00						
Time:	17:26:58							
Short date:	04.12.200	8						
Long date:	Donnersta	g, 4. Dezember 2	008					
Location To help servi weather, sele	ces provide ; ct vour prese	you with local info ent location:	mation, such as	news and				
Germany				•				
		ОК	Cancel	Apply				

Fig. 5 Reg. and Language Options

Both software, the Dual-PAM program and the GFS-Win, require specific *Regional and Language Options*. GFS-Win requires a dot for the decimal symbol (red circle in Fig. 5), while the Dual-PAM does not allow any customized symbols (Red Cross in Fig. 5). Therefore, choose an option, which has a dot as decimal symbol (e.g. English (Trinidad) or German (Liechtenstein)). The given examples have a ";" as list-separator (see chapter 3.6.4)

In the Windows Operating System press *Start/ Settings/ Control Panel/ Regional and Language Options* to access these settings.

3.2.2 Establishing the USB-connection to both systems on one computer

Both software use the same USB-driver, which can be installed by calling the program cdm_setup.exe supplied with the software CD of each instrument. It can be called directly, or it is installed automatically with the installation of the Dual-PAM program, or it can be called *via Start / Programs/ GFS 3000/ Install USB Port*

The latency time for the Dual-PAM needs to be set to 1 ms within the Windows Operating System. Use: *Start/ Settings/ Control Panel/ System/ Hardware/ Device Manager/ Ports/ USB Serial Port (COM..)/ Advanced/ Latency Time/ 1ms.* GFS-Win can run with any latency time.

Generally, you may plug in both USB-connections and start both programs, the Dual-PAM program (Version 1.8 or higher) and the GFS-Win program (Version 3.19 or higher).

If there is the error message from the Dual-PAM "FT_open, invalid handle", the Dual-PAM is checking the USB-port from the GFS-3000 and can not access it. This message can be ignored.



The Dual-PAM program will show a green glowing LED symbol when the USB-connection is functional (Fig. 6).

Fig. 6 Functional connection

In GFS-Win switch the Measure Mode on (System/ Measure Mode on). For the Measuring Head choose Dual-PAM Cuvette 3010-DUAL and press OK (see Fig. 7).

🐘 GFS-Win 3.18 (June 2010)	
System Window Option1 Option2 Help	
Info: GFS-3000	Clear
C Settings C Chart C Values C Report C Program	
Measure mode on	
Before switching on the Measure mode, select and specify the connected components. The last configuration is shown.	
Dual-PAM Cuvette 3010-DUAL >>	
mV at Aux No Additional component 2 >> component 2	
OK Cancel	
Mode Store Store Auto MP MP ZPcuv ZPirga	Capacity

Fig. 7 Switching Measure Mode on

If there are any problems, when establishing the USB-connections, then unplug both USB-connections. Afterwards plug in the USB-connection to the Dual-PAM only and start the Dual-PAM program, next plug in the USB-connection of the GFS-3000 and switch the Measure Mode on. Unplugging a USB-connection generally resets the USB-driver. It takes a while until the driver is reset. Resetting the driver of one USB connection or device might disturb/interrupt any other USB-connection. For correct data calculation, it is important to choose Dual-PAM Cuvette 3010-Dual here (*see* chapter 4.13).

3.3 First steps with the Dual-PAM

3.3.1 Short overview on Settings

Here only the most novel or important settings of the Dual-PAM are briefly explained. For more detailed explanations, see Dual-PAM manual. When using the Dual-PAM for the first time, it is a good idea to start the system in the Single Channel Mode, with either the Fluores-

М	Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger								
[Measure Mode-		Detector Type						
	Single Channel	Dual Channel	Detector 1 Detector 2						
			C DR C DAA						
	O P700	C Fluo + P700	C DPM C DNADPH						
	Fluo	O P700 + Ext 1	C DPD C DP700 C DP515/535 C DP515						
	C Evt1	C Elup + Ext 2							
			Gain						
	C Ext 2	C Ext1 + Ext2	C 1 (Low)						
	Analysis Mode-		• 5 (High)						
	···,		Damping						
	SP-Analysis	C Fast Acquisition	C 10 µs (Low)						
			• 1 ms (High)						
	Flux Mode		Zero Offset						
м	ode Meas. Light Actinic	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run	Sat. Pulse SP Trigger						
м	^{ode} Meas. Light Actinic - Measure Mode -	:Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run	Sat. Pulse SP Trigger Detector Type Detector Type						
м	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode Single Channel	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel	Sat. Pulse SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 © DB © N.C.						
м	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode - Single Channel	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel	Sat. Pulse SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 C DB C DR C DR C DA						
м	ode Meas Light Actinic Measure Mode- Single Channel	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700	Sat. Putee SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 C DB C DR C DR C DPM C DPD C DP20 C DP20 C DP20 C DP20 C DP200 C DP20 C DP2						
M	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode- Single Channel	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1	Sat. Pulse SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 © DB © DC © DR © DAA © DPM © DNADPH © DPD © DP700 © DP515/535 © DP515						
M	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode- Single Channel C P700 C Fluo C Ext 1	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1 C Fluo + Ext 2	Sat. Pute SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 2 © DB © NC. © DR © DAA © DPM © DNADPH © DP515/535 © DP515						
M	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode Single Channel C P700 C Fluo C Ext 1 C Ext 2	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1 C Fluo + Ext 2 C Ext1 + Ext 2	Sat. Putee SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 C DR C DR C DAA DPM DPM DP515/535 P700 Gain						
M	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode Single Channel C P700 C Fluo C Ext 1 C Ext 2	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1 C Fluo + Ext 2 C Ext 1 + Ext 2	Sat. Putee SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 C DB C DR C DA C DPM DPM DP515/535 P700 Gain C 1 (Low)						
M	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode Single Channel C P700 C Fluo C Ext1 C Ext2 Analysis Mode	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1 C Fluo + Ext 2 C Ext 1 + Ext 2	Sat. Pulse SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 2 O DB • NC. O DR • DAA O DPM • DNADPH O DPD • DP700 • DP515/535 • DP515 P700 Gain • 1 (Low) • 5 (High)						
M	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode Single Channel C P700 C Fluo C Ext1 C Ext2 Analysis Mode	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1 C Fluo + Ext 2 C Ext 1 + Ext 2	Sat. Pulse SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 2 © DB © NC. © DP © DAA © DPD © DP700 © DP515/535 © DP515 P700 Gain © 1 (Low) © 5 (High) © Demping © 10118 (Low)						
M	Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode Single Channel Single Channel P700 Fluo Fluo Ext 1 Ext 2 Ext 2	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1 C Fluo + Ext 2 C Ext 1 + Ext 2	Sat Pulse SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 Detector 2 O DR O DAA O DPM O DNADPH O DPD O DP700 O DP515 P700 Gain C 1 (Low) S 5 (High) Demping C 10 µs (Low) C 1 ms (High)						
M	Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode Single Channel Single Channel C Fluo C Ext 1 C Ext 2 Analysis Mode SP-Analysis Flux Mode	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1 C Fluo + Ext 2 C Ext 1 + Ext 2	Sat Pulse SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 O DB O DA O DPM O DAA O DPM O DAA O DPM O DAA O DPD O DPD O DP515 P700 Gain G 1 (Low) S 5 (High) Demping O 1 µs (Low) O 1 µs (Low) O T ms (High)						
M	ode Meas. Light Actinic Measure Mode Single Channel Single Channel Single Channel C Fluo C Ext 1 C Ext 2 Analysis Mode	Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Dual Channel C Fluo + P700 C P700 + Ext 1 C Fluo + Ext 2 C Ext 1 + Ext 2	Sat. Putee SP Trigger Detector Type Detector 1 © DB © DR © DA © DPA © DPA © DPA © DPA © DPA © DPA © DPA © DPA © DP515/535 © DP515 P700 Gain © 1 (Low) © 5 (High) Demping © 10 µs (Low) © 1 ms (High) Zero Offset						

Fig. 8 Settings Measure Mode; top: Chlorophyll fluorescence; below: P700 measurement

cence or P700 channel activated (see Fig. 8). The Dual-PAM program will only show the parts belonging to the selected channel. The following figures show a comparison of the settings, when either the Mode **Fluo** or **P700** is selected. Each settings window has a button for default settings, which can be used in the beginning.

The Measuring Lights (see Fig. 9) are **P**ulse Amplitude Modulated. In the Dual-PAM this pulse modulation occurs in trains of several pulses, so called blocks. One complete block has 14 pulses and takes 35 μ s (resulting in 400 kHz during each block). The **Block Frequency** is given in Hz. The time interval between blocks is varied. For fluorescence measurements in the dark a low frequency is required, so that the Measuring Light has no actinic effect. In the presence of Actinic Light a higher frequency can be chosen, to increase accuracy and time resolution. In the case of P700 measurements always maximal pulse frequency can be applied, as the near-infrared Measuring Light does not have any actinic effect.

The P700 signal is the difference between the transmission signals at two wavelengths (875 and 830 nm, seeFig. 9). Before a measurement the intensities of these two light beams need to be balanced for each sample, so that the difference signal is close to 0.00 V (further explanation, see chapter 3.3.2).

Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. Tr	rig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger
Fluo Meas. Light Int. 10 • Get 10 120 24 11 140 26 12 153 28 •	Set to default values
Block Frequency I♥ Auto MF-H. MF-low MF-high 20 ▼ 2000 ▼	
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. Ti	irig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger
	P700 Meas. Light Int. 5 1 830 nm 875 nm 830 nm 875 nm 1 Set Ratio Target mV LED Current Ratio 0 1.02 1 Variable Block Frequency

Fig. 9 Settings Measuring Light; top: Chlorophyll fluorescence; below: P700 measurement

Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin.	Trig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger	
Fluo. SP	Acquisition Points 16000	Set to default values
Width 600 ms	Rate, µs 100 🚽	
Int. Velue μE ▲ 1 14 1000 ▲ 2 25 2000 ▲ 3 35 3000 ▼	Time 1600 ms	
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin.	Trig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger	
Mode Meas, Light Actinic Light Slow Kin.	Trig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger	Setto
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin.	Trig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger Acquisition Points 16000	Set to default values
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. P700 SP Intensity 10 Width 200 ms	Trig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger Acquisition Points 16000 Rate, µs 100	Setto default values
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. P700 SP Intensity 10 • Width 200 ms • Int Value µE •	Trig Run Sat Pulse SP Trigger	Setto default values
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. P700 SP Intensity 10 Width 200 ms Middle Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. Intensity 10 Width 200 ms Middle Light Actinic Light Slow Kin.	Trig. Run Set. Pulse SP Trigger	Set to default values
Mode Meas: Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. P700 SP Intensity 10 Width 200 ms Int Value µE 1 14 1000 2 25 2000 3 35 3000 P700 SP-Evaluation	Trig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger	Setto default values
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. P700 SP Intensity 10 Width 200 ms Midth 200 ms P700 SP-Evaluation Interval 5 Delay ms 5	Trig. Run Set. Pulce SP Trigger	Setto default values
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. P700 SP Intensity 10 * Width 200 ms * Midth 200 ms *	Trig Run Set Puke SP Trigger	Setto default values
Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin, P700 SP Intensity 10 Width 200 ms Width 200 ms P700 SP-Evaluation Interval 5 Width, ms 30 View Main Slow Kin, 1000 State State Stat	Trig Run Set Pulse SP Trigger) Acquisition Points 16000 ♥ Rate, μs 100 ♥ Time 1600 ms	Set to default values

Fig. 10 Settings Saturation Pulse; top: Chlorophyll fluorescence, below: P700 measurement

As can be seen in **Fehler! Verweisquelle konnte nicht gefunden** werden. and Fig. 11, the default settings for the Saturation Pulses (**SP**) differ between the chlorophyll fluorescence (width 600 ms) and P700 (width 200 ms) measurements. For simultaneous Fluo and P700 measurements the default SP width would have been 300 ms.



Fig. 11 Trigger Schedule for Saturation Pulse; top chart: Chlorophyll fluorescence; chart below: P700 measurement

In Fig. 11 the trigger schedule for the Saturation Pulse procedure is shown. The saturation pulse itself is asigned **MT** (multiple-turnover with regard to single-turnover **ST**), its line is in the middle of both charts. Its width (compare upper and lower chart of Fig. 11) can be shorter for P700 measurments than for chlorophyll fluorescence, since full oxidation of PSI occurs in the very beginning of the pulse, when

there are few electrons in the electron transport chain, while full reduction of PSII is achieved later during a saturation pulse, when the electron transport *via* the intersystem chain becomes limiting.

The two upper lines in the lower chart of Fig. 11 show the schedule for the Actinic Light (**AL**) and Blue Light (**BL/FR**). They are transiently switched off after each Saturation Pulse, in order to assess the P700 signal in the fully reduced state.

The time before the Saturation Pulse is used to measure the signal level of the current state. In the dark adapted state this is Fo for the fluoresence, with PSII fully oxidized and no non-photochemical quenching (heat dissipation down-regulated). For P700 the current state is only meaningful, when Actinic or Far-red Light is applied.

The two lower lines in the SP trigger schedule for fluorescence (upper chart Fig. 11) have technical reasons: The frequency of the Measuring Light is transiently switched to maximum (**MF-max**) during the Saturation Pulse in order to obtain maximal time resolution. MF-max is higher in the Single-Channel Mode (400 kHz) than in the Dual-Channel mode (blocks of pulses alternating between the two channels). The lowest line, anotated with **S&H**, refers to a sample-and-hold amplifier in the system. It is switched off for a short period of time (default: 100 μ s) during strong fast changes in light, which otherwise would disturbe the pulse modulated measurement.

Settings for Actinic Light sources are shown in Fig. 12. Since Farred light normally is given in the dark, it shares a driver with Blue light. Therefore, Far-red or Blue can be given alternatively only. In the Script file, shown in chapter 3.6.2, the driver will be toggled between Far-red and Blue.

Mode Meas. Light Actinic Light Slow Kin. Trig. Run Sat. Pulse SP Trigger							
Act. Red Light	Far Red Light	Act. Blue Light					
Int. 9 Get PAR	Int. 5 🚔	Int. 5 Get					
Width man. 💌	Width man. 💌	Width man.					
Int. Value μΕ ▲ 1 13 6	Int Value	Int. Value µE					
2 15 13 3 17 22 ▼	2 26 3 38 ▼	2 5 11 3 7 18 ▼					
Trigger out	 C Blue ✓ Far Red 	Use as Actinic Light					
Setto default values Pulse Widths							

Fig. 12 Settings for Actinic Light

Settings for the recording of Slow Kinetics recordings are shown in Fig. 13. Since gas exchange changes are slow and may be recorded over long time periods, we recommend the maximal number of points and a slow recording rate.



Fig. 13 Slow Kinetics Settings

3.3.2 Chlorophyll fluorescence and P700 measurements in the dark adapted state

For a full analysis of the chlorophyll fluorescence signal, a measurement in the dark adapted state is required. We recommed to use a typical sample for a system trial, which can be discarded afterwards.



Fig. 14 Saturation Pulse kinetics during Fm determination

For fluorescence measurements, choose the Mode **Fluo** (see Fig. 8) and switch the Measuring Light on using the **F ML button**. Then press the button **Fo**, **Fm** (see Fig. 14), which triggers a Saturation Pulse according to the trigger schedule shown in Fig. 11. To see the complete kinetics of the rapid SP-induced fluorescence changes open the window **SP Kinetics**. To autoscale the curve, use the buttons **Auto** (Fig. 14).

For P700 measurements, choose the Mode P700 (see Fig. 8). When the Measuring Lights are switched on using the **P ML button**, an automatic Balance of the difference signal is performed (see Fig. 15). The two beams are balanced best, when the P700 signal (red circle at the right side of Fig. 15) is close to 0.00 V. Fine adjustment can be done with the two arrow keys beside it. Please note that the absolute level of the difference signal has no effect on the observed signal changes, as long as the difference signal does not saturate (at +6.5 and -2.8 V).



Fig. 15 Balancing of the P700 Measuring Light

The aim of the **Pm** determination is to define the maximal signal change observed between the states of P700 being fully oxidized and reduced. To reach full oxidation in a dark-adapted leaf, a preillumination with Far-red light is required. Choose the window **Slow Kinetics**, Select the Mode **Manual** and press **Start** (see Fig. 16). Switch the Far-red Light on (**FR** as indicated in Fig. 16) and watch the signal rise.

When oxidation is at a high constant level, press **Pm**. The time of Far-red preillumination required varies with plant material and Far-Red intensity. It should be determined with a typical sample and used for a set of experiments. Automatically there is a 10 s preillumination with

Far Red light, when Pm is pressed. But this time might be to short for long-term dark-adapted leaves.



Fig. 16 Pm determination

After this short introduction, the Dual-PAM can be used in the Dual Channel-mode with a fresh sample. Users are encouraged to make frequent use of the help texts written for the various functional elements of the user surface. Help texts can be called up for any element (e.g. Pm button) showing a tooltip when selected by the cursor by pressing the F1 key.



Fig. 17 Saturation Pulse kinetics of P700 signal. To magnify any part of the curve, draw a rectangle around it with the mouse as indicated.

3.4 Starting the Gas Exchange

3.4.1 Checks before Gas Exchange Measurement

Read chapter 6 of the GFS-3000 manual for a short reminder on the checks and calibrations that might be required before a gas exchange measurement can be started.

You may want to confirm the PAR list of the Dual-PAM program before doing any serious measurements (see chapter 5.3). In its standard version, the Dual-PAM 100 gives actinic light from both sides. To shut off the actinic light to the lower sample side, an optional connector is required, which is called Connector without Actinic Light Dual-E/WAL.

3.4.2 Setting-Up and Starting the Gas Exchange Measurement

Decide on the flow, the standard value for the Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette is 400 μ mol/s (ignore any indication that the flow should be between 600 and 900). With this flow, adjust the values of the

🐘 GFS-Win 3.11d (December 2008): DualPAM-GFS-G.csv								
System Windov Info:	w Option1 O	ption2 Help						Clear
C. C. W.	<u> </u>	G N I	с. р	C D				
General —	O Chart	Cent	© Heport ∴Unit — ⊤	Progra – Meas.Head	m 1 – Flua	r.Modul	e	
Filename DualPAM-	e Obje 000	ct F	^{-low} 400	Impeller O	Z-	Offset 	Gain 	CO2abs ppm 700.9
Records 00053	Are 1.3		CO2 700	Light Mode PARtop		ML 	ML-Ampl 	ci ppm
Start storing	Prg.na	ame H20 On abs)Mode s[ppm]	Light 0	S	at-Int 	Sat₩idth 	429.1
Interval 004/004	Star	t Sel am 1	Value 7000	TempMode Tcuv	F	R-Int 	Fo'-Mode 	Α μmol 7.65
NoAutoZ	P Last I comm	Prg and		Set¥alue 20	ET	R-Fact	FarRed 	H2Oabs ppm
								16332
								GH2U mmol 45.5
								Tleaf *C
								20.39
]
Mode MP	Store MP	Store ZPcuv	Auto ZPirga					C1: C2:94 14:04:32

Fig. 18 Window Settings

GFS-3000 with a small screw driver. To do that, press *Option1/Calibration/Central Unit/Valve Adjustment* in GFS-Win and follow the given instructions. Usually, the valve adjustment only needs to be performed, if the cuvette or the flow has been changed between experiments.

In the Window Settings of the GFS-Win software (see Fig. 18), switch on the flow, choose the CO_2 and H_2O concentration in ppm, enter the cuvette temperature and the leaf area, and finally enter a filename. Ignore the fields for impeller speed and light. They are not functional, when the Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette is connected.



Fig. 19 Differential

For exact gas exchange measurements, it is essential to measure the zero for the differential CO_2 and H_2O concentration before the CO_2 assimilation or H_2O evaporation can be measured. This can be done using the ZP Mode or with an empty cuvette. Fig. 19 shows an example, where the Zero Point has been determined with both methods, in ZP Mode (ZPirga) as well as in MP Mode with an empty cuvette (ZPcuv).

Further information on MP and ZP Mode can be found in the GFS-3000 manual.

3.5 Trigger connection between Dual-PAM-100 and GFS-3000

The trigger leading from the Dual-PAM-100 to the GFS-3000 *via* the Electronics Box has the same effect as pressing **Store MP** (in **MP Mode**) or **Store ZP** (in **ZP Mode**) (see solid arrow in Fig. 20). The trigger effect might be changed in future versions of GFS-Win into **Start program** (see dotted arrow in Fig. 20). This change will depend on user feedback.



Fig. 20 Trigger Effect, solid arrow: current GFS-Win Version, dotted arrow: possible future GFS-Win version.

Check the trigger connection by pressing and releasing **TR** at the Dual-PAM program. The GFS-3000 reacts to the release of the trigger. The averaging-time required for storing the data is determind with the settings given under **Interval**. (e.g. 4 s compare Fig. 20). A **Filename** needs to be entered in the GFS-Win program before any data can be recorded.

3.6 Example: Dark-light Induction Curves with concurrent Dual-PAM and GFS-3000 measurements

3.6.1 Before starting the automatic Induction Curve

Concurrent measurements of gas exchange, fluorescence and P700 are best performed using script files. Here we show an example of an Induction Curve. Start the Dual-PAM in the Dual Channel Mode.

Before starting any optical measurements, set-up the settings of the GFS-3000 (see chapter 3.4) and measure the zero point (ZP). In mode MP, wait until the values are in a steady state.

In the Dual-PAM program, check the settings for the **Report** (Fig. 22). Tick or untick the box determining the saving of SP Kinetics.

	6		8			I⊽ : Acti	Sa∨e SP, on Inform	/FastKii nation	netics								I▼ P700-Param. I▼ Fluo-Param.
0		1 2 3 4 5 6 7	SP-Ana Meas. SP Wid Illumi Actini AL: St BL: St	lysis- Light th: 40 nation c Ligh ep 9 (en 5 (Mode Int.: Ø ms Statu: t Souri 166 uE 44 uF)	Fluo 4 10 5: ce: Rec)	• P700	(AL)								•	✓ Nr ✓ Date ✓ Time ✓ Action ✓ ID ✓ Name ✓ PAR ✓ PM, Pm' ✓ YII)
õ		Nr	Y(I)	ETR(I)	Y(ND)	Y(NA)	Fo, Fo'	F(I)	F	Fm, Fm'	Y(II)	ETR(II)	Y(NO)	Y(NPQ)	NPQ	-	ETR(I)
		24	0.412	37.2	0.488	0.100	0.557	0.000	0.896	1.245	0.280	25.3	0.244	0.476	1.948		Y[NA]
		25	0.412	0.0	0.488	0.100	0.690	0.000	0.896	1.245	0.280	0.0	0.212	0.508	1.948		▼ F0, F0
0		26	0.461	41.7	0.422	0.117	0.592	0.000	0.953	1.436	0.336	30.4	0.260	0.404	1.555		✓ F ✓ Fm, Fm'
		27	0.461	0.0	0.422	0.117	0.714	0.000	0.953	1.436	0.336	0.0	0.228	0.435	1.555		
\odot		28	0.483	43.6	0.370	0.147	0.623	0.000	1.027	1.630	0.370	33.4	0.280	0.350	1.251		✓ Y(NO)
		29	0.483	0.0	0.370	0.147	0.752	0.000	1.027	1.630	0.370	0.0	0.245	0.385	1.251		I Y[NPU] I NPQ
		30	0.495	44.7	0.355	0.150	0.644	0.000	1.093	1.786	0.388	35.0	0.298	0.314	1.055		⊻ qN ▼ cP
\otimes		31	0.495	0.0	0.355	0.150	0.751	0.000	1.093	1.786	0.388	0.0	0.268	0.344	1.055		Ĭ dL
		32	0.503	45.4	0.344	0.153	0.664	0.000	1.163	1.946	0.402	36.3	0.317	0.281	0.886		✓ F/Fm ✓ Fm'/Fm
		33	0.503	0.0	0.344	0.153	0.774	0.000	1.163	1.946	0.402	0.0	0.285	0.313	0.886		✓ Temp ✓ Becord Time
		34	0.504	45.5	0.323	0.173	0.681	0.000	1.234	2.102	0.413	37.3	0.336	0.251	0.745	-	1 energy and the state
	•								_						Þ		
Settings	Slo	w Kir	netics SP	Kinetics	Light Curv	e SP-An	alysis Yie	ld Plot R	eport								

Fig. 21 Report of Dual-PAM program

In the settings window for the SP trigger, check the procedure for the Saturation Pulse (see Fig. 22). The width of the pulse will be adjusted automatically during the Script-run. After these checks the Script file for the Dual-PAM shown in **Table 1** to **Table 3** can be loaded, (name: With_Gas_exchange.prg). Press button **Script:Load** in the lower right corner of the Dual-PAM program: (Fig. 23).



Fig. 22 Saturation Pulse triggering schedule for Induction Curve recording in the Dual Channel mode



Fig. 23 Script buttons in lower right corner of Dual-PAM program user surface

3.6.2 Script file for Induction Curve

Table 1 Script file (Dual-PAM program): Settings

Save Report as	Saves previous Report with auto-
	matically generated name.
New Report	Deletes all data in Report
	Settings Mode (Fig. 8)
Measure Mode = $Fluo + P700$	
Analysis Mode = SP-Analysis	
Gain Ch1 = 5 (High)	
Damping $Ch1 = 1 ms$ (High)	
Gain Ch2 = 5 (High)	
Damping $Ch2 = 1 ms$ (High)	
	Settings Measuring Light (Fig. 9)
MF-H = 2000	
MF-L = 20	
AutoMF_H On	
F ML-Int. = =10	
P ML-Int. = =5	
	Settings Light (Fig. 12)
AL-Int.= 14	adjust for your experiment
AL Width $=$ man.	
BL-Int. =5	adjust for your experiment
BL Width = man.	
FR-Int. =5	adjust for your samples
FR Width = man.	
SP-Int. =10	adjust for your samples
SP Width = 400 ms	adjust for your samples
Select FR/BL = Far Red	
FR/BL Off	
TR ms-Pulse Width = 20 ms	Setting for Trigger Signal to Elec-
	tronics Box (Pulse Widths Fig. 12)
Slow Kin. Acquisition Points =	Settings Slow Kinetics Acquisition,
512000	(Fig. 13)
Slow Kin. Acquisition Rate = 100	

Table 2 Script file continuation: Start of Induction curve, tuning the
Measuring Light and measurements (Fo, Fm, Pm) in the dark
adapted state.

Recording Mode = Manual	Slow Kinetics: Mode (Fig. 24)
Slow Kinetics On	Start of Slow Kinetics Recorder
F ML On	Switch Measuring Light on
P ML On	
TimeStep(s) $=5$	
Balance	Balance Ratio of P700 Measuring Light
TimeStep(s) =5	Wait 5 s (time since last Time Step command)
Begin of Repetition Block P700_Adj1	Loops Fine adjusting P700
P700 Sig. Fine Down	Measuring Light
TimeStep(s) $=5$	
End of Rep. Block; Repeat until	
Sig.2(P700)< 0.150	
Begin of Repetition Block	
P700_Adj2	
P700 Sig. Fine Up	
TimeStep(s) =5	
End of Rep. Block; Repeat until	
Sig.2(P700)> 0.100	
TR Pulse	Trigger to the GFS-3000
TimeStep(s) = 6	Wait for gas exchange data to be
	averaged and stored
Fo,Fm	Determination of Fo and Fm
FR/BL On	Switch Far Red Light On
TimeStep(s) =60	Wait 60 s, adjust for your samples
Pm	Determination of Pm
TimeStep(s) = 2	Wait

Table 3 Script file continuation: Induction curve and loop for recording Saturation Pulse responses and Fo'. Before each pulse a trigger signal is sent to the GFS-3000 *via* the electronics box,

Begin of Repetition Block	
Induction1	
AL On	Switch Actinic Light On
Select $FR/BL = Blue$	Select Blue
FR/BL On	Switch Blue Light On
Save Report as	Use the next waiting time to
	save Report with an automati-
	cally generated name
TimeStep(s) = 30	Wait 30s (adjust for your ex-
	periment)
TR Pulse	Trigger to the GFS-300
TimeStep(s) 6	Wait for gas exchange data to be
	averaged and stored (match
	with Interval in GFS-Win)
Sat-Pulse/Fast Kin.	Give a Saturating Light pulse
FR/BL Off	Switch Blue Light Off
Select FR/BL = Far Red	Select Far Red
FR/BL On	Switch Far Red Light On
TimeStep(s) = 2	Wait
Fo'	Determine Fo'
FR/BL Off	Switch Far Red Light Off
End of Repetition Block; Loops = 6	Repeat 6 times
Begin of Repetition Block	The next Repition Blocks have
Induction2	the same Commands
TimeStep(s) =120	The loop has the same content,
	except for the Time step(s),
	which are chosen longer.
End of Repetition Block; Loops = 6	
Save Report as	Save Report in the End

3.6.3 Example of Induction Curve recording

The following figures show a typical example of an Induction Curve recorded on a *Hedera helix* leaf. Fig. 24 shows the Dual-PAM program running the Script file. In the Slow Kinetics window the current signals are displayed.



Fig. 24 Induction Curve of *Hedera helix*, chlorophyll fluorescence (red) and P700 signal (blue)

On the right side of Fig. 24 the Script-file is shown. The current position refers to the measuring loop waiting for two minutes. After this time period a trigger signal will be given to the GFS-3000, which will average and store the gas exchange data.

In Fig. 25 the curves for the CO_2 assimilation rate and the stomatal H_2O conductance are displayed. Each circle corresponds to one data set, stored in the Report. The Script-file has a time step of 6s to wait until the GFS-3000 has stored the data before a Saturation Pulse is given.

The relatively low Fm' values in the fluorescence signal in Fig. 24 indicate that the actinic light was excessive for a shade-leaf.



Fig. 25 Induction Curve of *Hedera helix*, CO₂ assimilation and stomatal H₂O conductance



Fig. 26 Induction Curve, Saturation Pulse Analysis

In the SP-Analysis window of the Dual-PAM (Fig. 26) the automatic data analysis of the Saturation Pulse responses is displayed. The rise in CO_2 -Assimilation measured with the GFS-3000 corresponded to the rise in Y(I), Y(II) and qP and a drop in Y(ND) and Y(NPQ) measured with the Dual-PAM.

3.6.4 Reading Data into Excel 2003 and higher

Customize Regional Options		<u>?</u> ×
Numbers Currency Time Date	1	
Sample Positive: 123'456'789.00	Negative: -123'456'789.00	
Decimal symbol:		
No. of digits after decimal:	2	
Digit grouping symbol:	· •	
Digit grouping:	123'456'789	
Negative sign symbol:		
Negative number format:	-1.1	
Display leading zeros:	0.7	
List separator:		
Measurement system:	Metric	
Standard digits:	0123456789	
Digit substitution:	None	
C	K Cancel Ap	ply

Fig. 27 Customize Reg. Opt.

The data are stored in the character-separated-value format (.csvformat). The character separating the values is either a comma or a semicolon. If the symbol used in the character-separated-value format matches the symbol given in Customize Regional Options, then the .csv-file will open up in Excel without problems and data will be automatically separated into columns. If this is not the case, the list separator can be changed with *Start/ Settings/ Control Panel/*

Regional and Language Options/ Customize.

Furthermore, in Excel it might be required to choose the appropriate decimal symbol. This can be done within Excel with: *Extra/ Option/ International/ Decimal Symbol*: "."

If these general changes shall not be changed, there is also the following option: Select the complete column A and then choose: *Data/ Text into Columns/ Delimited/ Other* ";" / *Next/ Advanced/ Decimal Symbol* "."/*Next/ Finish.*

4 Calculations

4.1 Introduction

The equations, which will be described in the following paragraphs, are used, when the Dual-PAM Gas Exchange Cuvette 3010-Dual is connected and enabled (see Fig. 7).

Given parameter or	Description	Unit
measured value		
CO2delay	Time difference between the gas arriv-	S
	ing in the sample or reference side of	
	the gas analyzer	
Area/Weight	Reference value of the sample used for	cm ² /mg
	calculations	
CO2abs	CO ₂ mole fraction in reference cell of	ppm*
	analyzer, equal to CO_2 concentration at	
	inlet of cuvette.	
CO2sam	CO ₂ mole fraction in sample cell of ana-	ppm
	lyzer. Not corrected for dCO2ZP	
dCO2ZP	= CO2sam - CO2abs	ppm
	(in Mode ZP or in Mode MP with an	
	empty chamber)	
H2Oabs	H ₂ O mole fraction in reference cell of	ppm
	analyzer, equal to H ₂ O concentration at	
	inlet of cuvette.	
H2Osam	H ₂ O mole fraction in sample cell of ana-	ppm
	lyzer. Not corrected for dCO2ZP	
dH2OZP	= H2Osample - H2Oabs	ppm
	(in Mode ZP or in Mode MP with an	
	empty chamber)	
Pamb	Ambient barometric pressure	kPa
Flow	Gas flow entering cuvette	µmol/s
Tcuv	Air temperature within cuvette	°C
Tleaf	Leaf temperature	°C
rH	Relative humidity within cuvette	rh %

*ppm= µmol mol⁻¹

Also when data are recalculated with GFS-Win, these equations will be used; if the status string indicates that the Dual-PAM Gas Exchange Cuvette 3010-Dual was used during the measurement (*see* chapter 4.13).

Table 4 lists the parameters integrated in the formulas and directly assessed by the GFS-3000 during the measurement.

4.2 Calculation of the Differential CO₂ Mole Fraction in Measure Mode MP – dCO2MP and dCO2ZP

dCO2MP is calculated from the CO_2 mole fraction at the sample side of the analyzer and CO_2 mole fraction on the reference side of the analyzer, while the system is in MP Mode.

(1)
$$dCO2MP = CO2sam_{(t)} - CO2abs_{(t-CO2delay)}$$

Whereby CO2delay is the time lag caused by the difference in tube length between the reference side and measuring side of the pneumatics. It depends on the actual flow rate.

With GFS-Win Version 3.15 and higher the "Time-Lag at standard flow (s)" is stored in the electronics of Measuring Head. The stored standard value is always the value for the flow rate 750 μ mol s⁻¹. It will be recalculated for the chosen flow rate. Adjusting of the stored value can be done with *Option1/Calibration/Measuring Head/ Time-Lag at standard flow (s)*. The actual value is shown in *Option1/Advanced setting*.

The differential zero is either measured in ZP Mode (dCO2ZPi), with no delay or in MP Mode with an empty cuvette (dCO2ZPcuv) with delay taken into account.

(2)
$$dCO2ZPi = CO2sam_{(t)} - CO2abs_{(t)}$$

(3)
$$dCO2ZPcuv = CO2sam_{(t)} - CO2abs_{(t-CO2delav)}$$

4.3 Calculation of the Differential H_2O Mole Fraction in Measure Mode MP – dH2OMP and dH2OZP

For the differential H₂O measurement, no delay is taken into account:

(4) $dH2OMP = H2Osam_{(t)} - H2Oabs_{(t)}$

4.4 Calculation of Transpiration Rate – E,

According to Caemmerer and Farquhar (1981) the transpiration rate is calculated as follows:

(5)
$$E = \frac{u_e^*(w_o - w_e)}{LA^*(1 - w_o)}$$

Whereby:

E = transpiration rate [mmol m⁻² s⁻¹], $u_e = molar$ flow rate at the inlet of the cuvette [µmol s⁻¹], $w_o = H_2O$ mole fraction at the outlet of the cuvette [ppm], $w_e = H_2O$ mole fraction at the inlet of the cuvette [ppm], LA = leaf area [m²].

The terms in equation (4) relate to the values provided by the GFS-3000 as follows:

(6)
$$u_e = Flow$$

(7)
$$w_o - w_e = dH 2OMP - dH 2OZP$$

(8)
$$w_o = H2Oabs + dH2OMP - dH2OZP$$

$$(9) \qquad LA = Area$$

Using the values provided by the GFS-3000 and equations (4) - (8) the transpiration rate E can be calculated as follows:

(10)
$$E = \frac{Flow * (dH 2OMP - dH 2OZP)}{Area * (1 - H 2Oabs - dH 2OMP + dH 2OZP)}$$

4.5 Calculation of Assimilation Rate - A

According to Caemmerer and Farquhar (1981) the assimilation rate A is calculated as follows:

(11)
$$A = \frac{u_e^*(c_e - c_o)}{LA} - E^*c_o$$

where

A = assimilation rate [μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹], u_e = molar flow rate at the inlet of the cuvette [μ mol s⁻¹], c_o = CO₂ mole fraction at the outlet of the cuvette [ppm], c_e = CO₂ mole fraction at the inlet of the cuvette [ppm]. LA = leaf area [m²], E = transpiration rate [mmol m⁻² s⁻¹],

The terms in equation (11) relate to the values provided by the GFS-3000 as follows:

(12)	$u_{e} = F$	low
· /	e	

(13)
$$c_e - c_o = dCO2ZP - dCO2MP$$

(14)
$$c_a = CO2abs + dCO2MP - dCO2ZP$$

(15) LA = Area

Using the values provided by the GFS-3000, equations (11) - (15) and the result of equation (10), the assimilation rate A can be calculated as follows:

(16)
$$A = \frac{Flow \cdot (dCO2ZP - dCO2MP)}{Area} - E^*(CO2abs + dCO2MP - dCO2ZP)$$

4.6 Calculation of Water Vapor Conductance - GH2O and wa

Since the Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette 3010-Dual has no internal fan, the water vapor around the leaf (w_a) is not equal to the water vapor at the exit of the cuvette (w_o), but w_a increases, while the air flows along the leaf surface. The change of w_a depends on the H₂Oconductance (GH2O) and on the water vapor inside and outside of the leaf. GH2O is calculated from the integral of the following differential equation:

(17)
$$\frac{dw_a(x)}{dx} = GH2O \cdot \frac{w_i(x) - w_a(x)}{1 - \frac{w_i(x) + w_a(x)}{2}} \cdot \frac{Area}{X} \cdot \frac{(1 - w_a(x))^2}{Flow \cdot (1 - w_a(0))}$$

X: is the complete path length of the air over the leaf [m]Area: is the leaf area $[m^2]$

 $w_a(x)$: water vapor at the position x , with x= 0 at entrance [ppm]

w_i(x): intercellular water vapor at the position x [ppm]

GH2O = total water vapor conductance [mmol m⁻² s⁻¹]

Flow= Flow entering the chamber

 w_i is calculated from the temperature of the leaf, which is measured with a thermocouple. For simplification, any temperature gradients along the leaf-sample are neglected:

(18)
$$w_i(x) \approx w_i = \frac{SVP(Tleaf)}{Pcuv}$$

Whereby:

SVP (Tleaf) = saturation vapor pressure at Tleaf calculated according to Goff-Gratch [kPa] (*see* manual of the GFS-3000), Pcuv = total pressure in the cuvette [kPa].

In the GFS-3000 the ambient pressure Pamb is measured. Only a small overpressure exists in the cuvette, it is neglected. Therefore:

(19) Pcuv = Pamb

With the given simplifications, the integral of equation (17) is:

(20)
$$GH2O = \frac{Flow}{Area} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} \cdot \left(1 - \frac{(1 - w_e)}{(1 - w_{out})}\right) + \frac{(1 - w_e)}{(1 - w_i)} \cdot \ln\left(\frac{(w_i - w_e)(1 - w_{out})}{(w_i - w_{out})(1 - w_e)}\right)\right)$$

4.7 Calculation of average water around the leaf – wa and Vapor-Pressure-Deficit - VPD

According to Caemmerer and Farquhar (1981) the total water vapor conductance GH2O is calculated as follows:

(21)
$$GH2O = \frac{E}{VPD}$$

Whereby:

GH2O = total water vapor conductance [mmol $m^{-2} s^{-1}$],

E = transpiration rate [mmol m⁻² s⁻¹],

VPD = (Air-to-Leaf-)Vapor-Pressure-Deficit [Pa/kPa].

(22)
$$VPD = \frac{(w_i - w_a)}{1 - \frac{(w_i + w_a)}{2}}$$

These equations can be rearranged, so that the average concentration of water vapor around the leaf (wa) can be calculated from E and GH2O, obtained in chapter 4.4 and 4.6.

(23)
$$wa = w_a = \left(\frac{2 \cdot GH2O + E}{2 \cdot GH2O - E}\right) \cdot w_i - \frac{2 \cdot E}{2 \cdot GH2O - E}$$

VPD can be calculated with equation (23) and (18).

4.8 Relative Humidity (rh %)

The relative humidity is the ratio of the actual vapor pressure of the air to the saturation vapor pressure. The relative humidity is usually expressed in percent.

(24)
$$rh = \frac{Actual Vapor Pressure}{Saturation Vapor Pressure}$$

Using the values provided by the GFS-3000, the relative humidity rh in the Standard Measuring Head 3010-S can be calculated as follows:

(25)
$$rh = \frac{wa * Pamb}{SVP(Tcuv)}$$

Whereby:

SVP(Tcuv) = saturation vapor pressure at Tcuv calculated according to Goff-Gratch [kPa] (*see* manual of GFS-3000).

wa: see chapter 4.7

The relative humidity is calculated from the cuvette temperature and the H_2O concentration in the cuvette, measured with the infra-red gas analyzer. Since the cuvette temperature of the Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette is not measured inside the cuvette but in the frame, the value given for relative humidity is only approximate.

4.9 Calculation of CO₂ Mole Fraction in the Cuvette - ca

Since the change of the CO_2 concentration is small in the Dual-PAM Cuvette 3010-Dual, the CO_2 mole fraction in the cuvette ca can be calculated from the average between the CO_2 mole fraction at the inlet and outlet. Using the values provided by the GFS-3000, the CO_2 mole fraction in the cuvette (ca) can be calculated as follows:

(26)
$$ca = CO2abs + \frac{(dCO2MP - dCO2ZP)}{2}$$

4.10 Calculation of Intercellular CO₂ Mole Fraction

According to Caemmerer and Farquhar (1981) the intercellular CO_2 mole fraction ci is calculated as follows - ci:

(27)
$$ci = \frac{(GCO2 - \frac{E}{2})*ca - A}{GCO2 + \frac{E}{2}}$$

Whereby:

ci = intercellular CO₂ mole fraction [ppm], GCO2 = conductance for CO₂ [mmol m⁻² s⁻¹], E = transpiration rate [mmol m⁻² s⁻¹], ca = CO₂ mole fraction in the cuvette [ppm], A = assimilation rate [μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹].

The conductance for CO_2 depends on the conductance for H_2O as follows (simplified equation):

$$(28) \qquad GCO2 = \frac{GH2O}{1.56}$$

Using the values provided by the GFS-3000, the intercellular CO_2 mole fraction ci can be calculated as follows:

(29)
$$ci = \frac{(\frac{GH2O}{1.56} - \frac{E}{2})^* ca - A}{\frac{GH2O}{1.56} + \frac{E}{2}}$$

4.11 Recalculation of Data

The gas exchange data can be recalculated with a new leaf area. The button **New leaf area** in the report window (Fig. 28) allows to enter a new leaf area for each object number and automatically recalculate the data.

Recalc. file New leat area New weight Tech ft Copy Tech Font +/- Tech Font +/- Tech Copy Tech Font +/- Tech Font +/-	CO2a ppm 699.
area Report 8/20MP Flow Paab 02 Patt.02 Tour Teal Ttop th E V C Tour Teal Tour Tour <th>699.</th>	699.
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	699.
97 293.9 97.3 150 8.458 20.01 21.04 20.00 70.85 0.14 8.76 15.7 4.86 101 335.8 97.3 154 8.459 20.01 21.04 20.00 70.35 0.14 8.76 15.7 4.86 110 335.8 97.3 154 8.459 20.01 21.04 20.00 70.39 0.15 8.76 15.7 5.34 114 205.9 97.3 1.72 8.459 20.00 21.02 20.00 70.39 0.19 8.77 21.6 5.34 114 205.9 97.3 1.72 8.459 20.01 21.02 20.00 70.39 0.19 8.77 22.0 5.58 115 395.9 97.3 1.72 8.457 20.01 21.02 1.00 70.39 1.91 8.71 2.21 5.56 122 395.9 97.3 1.74 8.457 20.01 21.02 5.59	
101 393.8 97.3 1.54 8.459 20.01 21.04 20.00 70.30 0.15 8.76 17.1 5.14 113 393.9 97.3 1.74 0.457 20.00 21.02 20.01 70.39 0.15 8.76 17.1 5.14 114 393.9 97.3 1.74 0.457 20.00 21.02 20.01 70.39 0.19 0.71 21.6 5.54 114 393.9 97.3 1.74 0.457 20.00 21.02 20.01 70.39 0.19 0.71 22.0 5.58 115 393.9 97.3 1.71 0.457 20.00 21.02 15.9 70.37 0.19 0.71 22.1 6.56 122 393.8 97.3 1.74 0.457 20.00 21.02 15.9 70.37 0.19 0.71 22.1 6.56 122 393.8 97.3 1.74 0.457 20.00 21.02 15.9 <td>_</td>	_
113 299.5 97.3 1.74 0.457 20.00 21.02 20.01 70.39 0.19 0.71 21.6 5.34 114 299.5 97.3 1.72 0.453 20.01 70.39 0.19 0.71 21.6 5.34 114 299.5 97.3 1.72 0.453 20.01 12.02 0.00 70.30 19 0.71 21.6 5.34 115 399.5 97.3 1.72 0.455 20.01 21.02 15.08 122 399.6 97.3 1.74 0.457 20.00 21.02 15.93 71.09 1.91 8.71 2.21 6.56 122 399.6 97.3 1.74 0.457 20.00 21.02 15.93 71.00 21.07 1.247 6.30	CI CI
114 393.9 97.3 1.72 8.453 20.01 21.02 20.00 70.30 0.19 8.72 22.0 5.58 115 393.9 97.3 1.71 8.457 20.01 21.02 19.99 70.37 0.19 8.71 22.0 5.58 112 393.9 97.3 1.74 8.457 20.01 21.02 19.99 70.37 0.19 8.71 22.1 6.26 122 393.9 97.3 1.74 8.457 20.00 21.02 19.39 70.00 0.21 8.71 22.1 6.26	ppn
115 399.9 97.3 1.71 8.457 20.01 21.02 19.99 70.97 0.19 8.71 22.1 6.26 122 399.8 97.3 1.74 8.457 20.00 21.02 19.99 71.00 0.21 0.71 24.7 6.30	365
122 399.8 97.3 1.74 8.457 20.00 21.02 19.99 71.00 0.21 8.71 24.7 6.30	
	A
137 399.9 97.3 1.69 8.457 20.02 21.02 20.02 70.97 0.26 8.70 30.2 7.24	umo
146 399.8 97.3 1.66 8.458 20.01 21.01 19.99 71.05 0.29 8.67 33.7 7.84	10.7
164 399.9 97.3 1.68 8.458 20.01 21.02 20.00 71.11 0.35 8.68 39.8 8.49	10.7
171 399.8 97.3 1.62 8.457 19.99 21.00 20.00 71.26 0.37 8.63 42.9 8.93	-
179 400.1 97.3 1.63 8.458 20.01 21.02 19.99 71.19 0.39 8.65 45.4 9.47	E
178 399.8 97.3 1.59 8.457 20.00 20.98 19.98 71.23 0.39 8.60 45.3 9.80	mmo
105 399.9 97.3 1.57 8.457 19.99 20.98 19.90 71.38 0.41 8.57 48.2 10.00	0.4
183 400.0 97.3 1.57 8.457 19.98 20.95 19.98 71.37 0.41 8.54 47.5 10.09	0.1
190 400.0 97.3 1.46 8.457 20.00 20.98 19.99 71.30 0.43 8.58 49.8 10.30	GH2
189 339.8 97.3 1.44 8.457 19.99 20.97 19.99 71.32 0.42 8.56 49.5 10.38	Gillz
106 33570 37.3 1.43 0.457 19.90 20.95 19.90 71.37 0.42 0.53 40.7 10.54	mmo
190 3393 97.3 1.42 8.496 19.39 20.96 19.98 71.31 0.43 8.55 50.2 10.83	52.
200 335.8 37.3 1.40 8.494 20.01 20.36 20.00 71.25 0.46 8.54 53.7 10.71	
133 100.0 37.3 1.31 0.137 20.01 21.00 13.33 71.24 0.46 0.60 53.2 10.71	Tlea
201 400 1 97 2 1 22 9 455 20 00 20 97 20 00 71 25 0 46 9 59 52 9 10 92	-
201 400.1 97.3 1.33 8.455 20.00 20.97 20.00 71.25 0.46 8.58 53.9 10.83	*C

Fig. 28 GFS-Win: Window Report

As stated above, for the accuracy of the gas exchange data, it is important to determine an exact zero point for the differential CO_2 and H_2O concentration (dCO2ZP and dH2OZP). To get an idea on the zero during a measurement, the experimental protocol should be repeated with an empty cuvette, or better with a sheet of black anodized metal inside the cuvette. To recalculate the data with a more exactly determined ZP, the values for dCO2ZP and dH2OZP can be changed within Excel and then recalculated with GFS-Win. In Excel they need to be saved in .csv-format (separate the values with a comma or semicolon). For the recalculation, press the button **Recalc file** in the Report window (Fig. 28).

4.12 Calculated Values

The GFS-Win software automatically calculates photosynthetic parameters. They are correct only under certain conditions.

The value given for the intercellular CO_2 concentration (ci) generally has no meaning with closed stomates, since a division by zero or close to zero takes place.

4.13 Status String

The status string indicates the type of the measuring head. For the Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette 3010-Dual, the type is 5.

The calculation of gas exchange data is performed as described above, if the status string contains a 5 for the type of the measuring head. If the type was 3 during the measurement, it can be changed into 5 (in an Excel .csv file) and the data can be recalculated with GFS-Win.

The status FF means ok, otherwise the error-number is indicated.

Area/	Battery	Central Unit			Measur	ing Head	
Weight	Control				5: Dual	-PAM cuv	vette
	Status	Туре	Status	CO ₂	Туре	Ver-	Status
						sion	
A/W	FF/err	1	FF/err	0-9	5	2	FF/err

 Table 5: Status String

• • •

PAM-F	uorometer	Additional		Oxygen	Cold-	Trap
		Temperature Sens.		Sens.		
Туре	Status	Туре	Status	Туре	Туре	Status
1-3	FF/err	1	FF/err	1	1	FF/err

5 Maintenance

5.1 Demounting a cuvette half and exchanging gaskets



Fig. 29 Demounting

The support frame has countersunk socket screws at both ends (see arrows in Fig. 29). Use the provided allen wrench (hexkey) to loosen them.

The rod of the ring fitting can now be pulled out, so that the cuvette half is detached (see Fig. 29) or it can be pushed further in, so that the cuvette frames are offset to each other (see Fig. 31). The gaskets are now accessible.

Remove the old gaskets. Before sticking down the new gaskets, regard the orientation. The gaskets are not square, but the inside is 1.1 x 1.2 mm in size.

The rods have a flat side, which needs to face towards the countersunk socket screws after mounting. If this is not the case,

the ring fittings are mixed up between the upper and lower cuvette frame.

5.2 Exchanging the Thermocouple



First switch power off. The thermocouple for measuring the leaf temperature is mounted in the lower cuvette frame.

For replacement, remove the gasket (see chapter 5.1), unscrew the protection shield (1) and the fixing screws (2). Now the thermocouple can be pulled out. Thread the new thermocouple through the hole in the cuvette frame, push in the metal square and plug in the plug (3). Mount a new gasket around the thermocouple.



Fig. 30 Exchange of thermocouple

5.3 Adjusting the Offset for leaf temperature probe

To adjust the offset for the leaf temperature measurement, switch any cooling or heating function of the Dual-PAM cuvette off. Wait until the Dual-PAM cuvette (Tcuv) has no temperature drift. Place a calibrated thermometer near the tip of Tleaf. Adjust the Offset of Tleaf with *Option1/Calibration/Measusuring Head/Tleaf Offset[Counts]* until the indicated leaf temperature matches the temperature of the calibrated thermometer.



5.4 PAR Sensor MQS-B/GFS

Fig. 31 PAR Sensor

To measure the photosynthetic photon flux density at the leaf surface, an external PAR sensor (MQS-B/GFS) can be connected to the Electronics Box. Loosen one cuvette half as described in chapter 5.1, so that it becomes possible to hold the PAR sensor in place of the leaf to measure the value.

6 Technical Data

- **Design:** Dual-PAM Gas-Exchange Cuvette designed for the combination of the GFS-3000 with optical instruments like the Dual-PAM-100 or the KLAS-100, the upper and lower cuvette frame enclosing a light guide (Perspex rod) for the connection of optical modules like the Dual-DB Module or the Dual-E Module (connection of Dual DR Module <u>not</u> possible!), featuring a wide range of temperature control, pneumatically separated upper and lower cuvette halves, controlled by an Electronics Box with sockets for cable connections to the Control Unit 3000-C.
- Cuvette temperature, measured within the aluminum frame outside of the cuvette: Pt 100 type A, range -10 to +50 °C, accuracy ± 0.1 °C
- **Temperature control:** Set point value: cuvette temperature, which is measured in the cuvette-frame ranging from 10 degree below ambient to +50 °C
- **Leaf temperature. measurement:** Thermocouple, range -10 to +50 °C, accuracy ± 0.2 °C, reference: cuvette temperature, which is measured in the cuvette-frame.
- **External miniature quantum sensor:** Selective PAR measurement, range 0 to 2500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ PAR, accuracy ±5 %, cosine corrected

Leaf area: 1.3 cm²

Trigger in: triggers a signal to the GFS-3000 at $5V \rightarrow 0V$ signal change.

Distance between light guide (Perspex rod) and leaf: ca. 1 mm on each side

Operating temperature: -5 to +45 °C

Dimensions:

Cuvette itself: 10 cm x 4 cm x 12 cm (L x W x H) **Electronics Box :** 7 cm x 7 cm x 15 cm (L x W x H)

Weight: 1 kg (incl. cable and tubes)

7 Warranty Conditions

All products supplied by the Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany, are warranted by Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany to be free from defects in material and workmanship for one (1) year from the shipping date (date on invoice).

The warranty is subject to the following conditions:

- 1. This warranty applies, if the defects are called to the attention of Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany, in writing within one year (1) of the shipping date of the product.
- 2. This warranty shall not apply to any defects or damage directly or indirectly caused by or resulting from the use of unauthorized replacement parts and/or service performed by unauthorized personnel.
- 3. This warranty shall not apply to any product supplied by the Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany which has been subjected to misuse, abuse, abnormal use, negligence, alteration or accident.
- 4. This warranty does not apply to damage caused from improper packaging during shipment or any natural acts of God.
- 5. This warranty does not apply to underwater cables, connectors, batteries, fiberoptic cables, lamps, gas filters, thermocouples, fuses or calibrations.

To obtain warranty service, please follow the instructions below:

- 1. The Warranty Registration form must be completed and returned to Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany.
- 2. The product must be returned to Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany, within 30 days after Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany has received written notice of the defect. Postage, insurance, custom duties, and/or shipping costs incurred in returning equipment for warranty service are at customer expense.
- 3. All products being returned for warranty service must be carefully packed and sent freight prepaid.

Heinz Walz GmbH, Germany is not responsible or liable, for missing components or damage to the unit caused by handling during shipping. All claims or damage should be directed to the shipping carrier.